University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

1-1-2006

Reliable and energy-efficient cooperative transmission in wireless sensor networks.

Wenying Zheng University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Zheng, Wenying, "Reliable and energy-efficient cooperative transmission in wireless sensor networks." (2006). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 7082. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/7082

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Reliable and Energy-Efficient Cooperative Transmission in Wireless Sensor Networks

by

Wenying Zheng

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research through Electrical and Computer Engineering in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Applied Science at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2006

© 2006 Wenying Zheng

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-35943-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-35943-3

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

In this thesis, we propose a cooperative relay scheme for multihop communications in wireless sensor networks. The scheme investigates node cooperation in conjunction with power control to conserve transmission energy and improve communication reliability in the presence of fading. By using relay nodes that are located between transmitter and receiver to assist packet delivery, the scheme is capable of reaping both spatial diversity gains and pass-loss savings. Local channel information is explored in relay selection process and power control to reduce the energy of data packet transmission. Moreover, a cooperative ARQ is incorporated to improve packet retransmission efficiency. We analyzed packet delivery ratio and energy consumption, and observed good agreement between analytical and simulation results. In simulations, we compared different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes and examined effects of various factors. Our simulations and analyses show that the proposed scheme improves energy efficiency, packet delivery ratio and extends nodes' battery lifetime.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Kemal Tepe for his guidance and tremendous support which lead to the successful completion of this thesis. He has shown me the path to research and the critical aspects involved in research. He has instilled in me a state of confidence to undertake any challenges in the field of scientific research. His advice and feedback about my research has greatly enhanced this work. I am also very grateful to my committee member Dr. Alioune Ngom and Dr. Huapeng Wu for their insights and valuable suggestions on this work.

Next, I would like to especially thank Professor Xuelong Zhu in Tsinghua University for his constant encouragement and valuable assistance in the past few years. I owe him lots of gratitude for not only shared with me his width of knowledge in wireless communications, but most importantly, showed me the way to always be optimistic and to enjoy life to the fullest.

I learned a tremendous amount in the course work that I undertook and my heartfelt thanks go to all the professors in our department for their valuable instructions. I also like to thank all the fellow researchers and friends for their collaborative support and generous help.

Finally, I would like to thank my dear parents Songling Zheng and Renyuan Li, my brother Wenjun Zheng, my sister-in-law Xiaoli Xu and my uncle Yuan Li for their endless support, understanding and love.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | iii |
|-------------|--|
| ACKNOWLI | EDGMENTS iv |
| LIST OF TAI | BLES vii |
| LIST OF FIG | URES viii |
| CHAPTER | |
| I. | INTRODUCTION |
| | I-1 Overview of WSNs1 |
| | I-2 Problem Statement |
| | I-3 Thesis Organization4 |
| II. | BACKGROUND AND RELATED WORK |
| | II-1 Cooperative Diversity5 |
| | II-2 Energy-Oriented Power Control Approaches |
| | II-3 Node Cooperation with ARQ10 |
| III. | COOPERATIVE TRANSMISSION & ARQ RETRANSMISSION |
| | III-1 System and Energy Model12 |
| | III-2 Transmission Power Control16 |
| | III-3 Relay Selection18 |
| | III-4 Cooperative Data Transmission20 |
| | III-5 Cooperative ARQ21 |
| IV. | PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS AND SIMULATION RESULTS |
| | IV-1 Packet Delivery Ratio Analysis24 |
| | IV-2 Energy Consumption Analysis25 |
| | IV-3 Simulation Model27 |
| | IV-4 Comparison of Cooperative and Non-cooperative Schemes28 |
| | IV-5 Extension to Two Next-hop Nodes Scenario |
| | IV-6 Effect of Number of Cooperative relays and TPC |
| | IV-7 Effect of Number of Intermediate Nodes42 |
| | IV-8 Effect of CSI and Transmission Distance |
| | IV-9 Comparison of Theoretical and Simulation Results46 |

V. CONCLUSIONS

| V-1 Summary of Contributions | 49 |
|------------------------------|----|
| V-2 Future Work | 51 |
| REFERENCES | 52 |
| VITA AUCTORIS5 | |

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1: Simulation parameters | . 27 |
|--------------------------------|------|
| Table 2: Simulation schemes | . 28 |

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1: Communication architecture of wireless sensor networks | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Figure 2: Application example of wireless sensor networks: battlefield surveillance2 | | | |
| Figure 3: An example of sensor node: a Berkeley mote. Sensor node is small in size and | | | |
| usually has low cost and low power | | | |
| Figure 4: Cooperative transmission typically operates in two phases: (i) source transmits | | | |
| to relays and destination; (ii) relays transmit to destination | | | |
| Figure 5: Energy consumption model | | | |
| Figure 6: A MH routing path is established from the origin sensor node to the remote sink | | | |
| over a few active nodes. Some other nodes may turn active during data packet | | | |
| transmission 15 | | | |
| Figure 7: Cooperative transmission over one MH hop: a double-hop topology16 | | | |
| Figure 8: Transmission power of data packet is adjusted to minimum level using MAC | | | |
| layer RTS/CTS handshaking messages18 | | | |
| Figure 9: Cooperative ARQ: intermediate nodes help during packet retransmission 22 | | | |
| Figure 10: Comparison of different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (hopno=3, | | | |
| pktno=200, N=8, J=2, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs | | | |
| receiver target PER | | | |
| Figure 11: Comparison of different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (hopno=3, | | | |
| pktno=200, N=8, J=2, d=20): minimum of node residual energy vs receiver | | | |
| target PER | | | |

- Figure 13: Two next-hop nodes scenario of cooperative transmission over one MH hop.

- Figure 14: Comparison of one and two next-hop node(s) scenarios of different cooperative and non cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=300, N=8, J=2, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver target PER... 32
- Figure 16: Comparison of one and two next-hop node(s) scenarios of different cooperative and non cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=300, N=8, J=2, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs receiver target PER.

- Figure 37: Comparison of theoretical and simulation results for direct, non-cooperative (J=1) and cooperative (J from 2 to 5) schemes (hopno=1, pktno=200, N=10, retryno=1, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs receiver sensitivity. 48

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

I-1 Overview of WSNs

Ongoing developments in micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) technology, wireless communication and digital circuitry have spawned extensive research in wireless sensor networks (WSNs) [1]. In typical sensor networks, a large number of small, inexpensive and multifunctional sensor nodes are scattered in a field. Each of these sensor nodes has the capabilities to interact with environment by sensing, data producing and then route the data back to the data collector (sink) by a multihop infrastructureless architecture. The sink may communicate with the task manager node via Internet or satellite. Figure 1 shows the communication architecture of a typical wireless sensor networks.



Figure 1: Communication architecture of wireless sensor networks.

Wireless sensor networks have many practical applications, ranging from military surveillance to disaster relief operations, from habitat monitoring to corrosion detection in large structures. Deployment of sensors on a battlefield can reduce the need for soldiers to put themselves in danger (see Figure 2). Some sensor nodes can be deployed in a forest to report the exact origin of wildfire before it is spread uncontrollable. Bridge inspectors will no longer need to climb to dangerous heights to examine corrosion, since sensors will detect conditions. Another example of using wireless sensor networks is to gain an understanding of the number of plant and animal species that live in a given habitat.



Figure 2: Application example of wireless sensor networks: battlefield surveillance.

Although the application types of wireless sensor networks vary in a wide range,

some common features are shared among most application examples:

- Sensor nodes are densely deployed and node density will vary in different places and times.
- Sensor nodes are highly energy-constrained.
- Sensor nodes are simple and inexpensive devices and prone to failure.
- Topology of a sensor network changes frequently.

These features distinguish wireless sensor networks from other mobile networks and make the design of sensor systems a very challenging task.



Figure 3: An example of sensor node: a Berkeley mote. Sensor node is small in size and usually has low cost and low power.

I-2 Problem Statement

An essential limiting factor in wireless sensor networks is energy consumption. In many scenarios, sensor nodes will have to rely on a limited supply of energy. Replacing these energy sources in the field is usually not practicable. Simultaneously, a wireless sensor network must operate at least for a given mission time or as long as possible. Hence, energy conservation plays a very important role to maximize the network lifetime – the duration for which sufficient numbers of nodes in the system have ample energy to provide the desired service.

Today's sensor networks make use of radio links for communication. Wireless communication has been identified as the dominant energy-consuming operation in WSNs, which makes energy efficiency an important figure of merit in the design of wireless communication techniques in sensor networks.

Another major challenge in the design of sensor networks is link reliability [2]. Since sensor nodes are linked by wireless medium, wireless links suffer channel variations due to fading, shadowing, interference, mobility and node failures, causing high error rates in wireless communication. Unsuccessful packet delivery requires packet retransmission. In flat fading environment, such as sensor networks, it is quite possible that a link in fade long enough that data transmission will fail in spite of multiple retries, is thus waste of energy. On the other hand, most applications of today's sensor network, such as target tracking, machine monitoring and fire detection, etc., requires high data precision and the information collected by sensor nodes conveyed reliably to the sink. These requirements pose further challenges on the design of energy efficient and reliable transmission techniques in the wireless sensor networks.

I-3 Thesis Organization

In this thesis, we propose a cooperative transmission scheme to improve energy efficiency and link reliability of multihop communications in wireless sensor networks.

The thesis is organized in five chapters. Chapter II explains concepts of the techniques used in this work and provides a survey of related work. Chapter III presents the proposed cooperative transmission scheme. This includes the description of system and energy model, transmission power control approach, relay selection process, cooperative data transmission and cooperative ARQ. Chapter IV deals with performance analysis and simulation results, where packet delivery ratio and energy consumption are analyzed and compared to simulation results. In simulations, different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes are compared, effects of various factors are examined, and an extensive discussion of simulation results is performed. Finally, Chapter V concludes the thesis and identifies several open research problems arising from this work.

CHAPTER II

BACKGROUND AND RELATED WORK

II-1 Cooperative Diversity

Diversity is a powerful technique to mitigate fading and improve robustness to interference. Spatial diversity is particularly attractive because it provides diversity gain without expenditure of transmission time or bandwidth. These gains are typically realized through the use of multiple antennas at the transmitter and/or receiver side [3]-[6]. Unfortunately, physically implementing multiple antennas on the small and energylimited sensor node may not be practical. On the other hand, sensor nodes are scattered in a field, which creates the inherent spatial redundancy that could be exploited. A new way of realizing spatial diversity gain has been introduced under the name of cooperative diversity. It includes a set of techniques that exploit the potential of spatially dispersed terminal antennas to improve communication reliability. The core idea is that multiple nodes (sensors) in a network cooperate to form a virtual antenna array realizing the spatial diversity gain in a distributed fashion. The achieved diversity gain enables the use of less transmission power for the same bit/packet error rate performance thereby improving energy efficiency. The cooperative transmission generally operates in two phases: (i) source transmits to relays and destination, and (ii) relays transmit to destination, as shown in Figure 4. Depending on the way that relays transmit to destination, there are two cooperative transmission approaches: (i) repetition-based, where relays transmit to destination on orthogonal sub-channels (e.g. in different time slots), and (ii) space-time coded, where relays utilize space-time code (STC) to transmit simultaneously on the same sub-channel.



Figure 4: Cooperative transmission typically operates in two phases: (i) source transmits to relays and destination; (ii) relays transmit to destination.

Earlier research work on cooperative diversity was reported in [7]-[9]. Sendonaris *et al.* [7] suggested cooperation between pairs of wireless users and showed that cooperative users in a wireless network can achieve higher rates and the communication link is more robust to channel variations. Laneman *et al.* [8] [9] developed different decode-and-forward and amplify-and-forward protocols to achieve diversity. In [8], several two-stage relay strategies were proposed and studied, including fixed relaying, selective relaying, and incremental relaying. In [9], these schemes were extended to large networks and both repetition-based and space-time-coded cooperation were considered.

Recent research investigations that consider node cooperation in wireless ad hoc and sensor networks include cooperative MIMO techniques [10]-[13], cooperative routing [14]-[17], and diversity forwarding [18]-[21].

Multi-input multi-output (MIMO) techniques are very effective in improving performance of wireless systems in the presence of fading [36]. Cooperative MIMO techniques allow multiple nodes to cooperate in signal transmission and/or reception. Cui and Goldsimth [10] proposed a cooperative MIMO technique where multiple nodes within a cluster cooperate in signal transmission and reception with optimal rate. The authors showed that cross-layer design coupled with node cooperation and rate adaptation can significantly improve the energy-delay tradeoff in wireless networks. This work was later extended in [11], where an energy-efficient virtual MIMO-based communication architecture was proposed and the impact of the training overhead and fading coherence time was analyzed. Li *et al.* [12] investigated space-time-block-coded (STBC) cooperative transmission within LEACH protocol and studied the problem of overhead and synchronization. The authors showed that with proper design, cooperative transmission can enhance energy efficiency and prolong sensor network lifetime. Cheng and Kung [13] proposed a relay scheme in conjunction with maximum ratio combining (MRC) and Alamouti space-time codes that exploits geometric gain resulting from the location of properly deployed relays to extend the battery lifetime of the network.

Cooperative routing, as a new term under the cross-layer design paradigm, explores the interaction between cooperative diversity in physical layer and routing in network layer. Luo *et al.* [14] proposed three cooperative routing approaches: relay-byflooding, relay-assisted routing and relay-enhanced routing and evaluated the outage probability for three relay schemes: simple relay, space-time-coded relay and best-select relay. Their results indicate a significant performance improvement in outage probability and achieved rate. Liu and Ge [15] proposed a space-time coding and link quality based cooperative routing scheme to achieve high throughput in multihop WSNs. Chen *et al.* [16] considered the issue of cooperative communication and routing in fading channels and showed that significant spatial diversity gains are achievable with multi-node cooperation. Xie *et al.* [17] incorporated cooperative transmission into route selection and demonstrated power savings of their cooperative routing strategy over the simple multihop routing.

Valenti and Correal [18] investigated the inherent spatial redundancy in the dense network and introduced the macrodiversity-combing concept by using neighbor nodes as relays to forward packet from the source to the destination. The authors illustrated that an order of magnitude reduction in transmit power is achievable. Wang et al. [19] proposed a scheme that exploits path diversity to improve the reliability and energy efficiency of packet forwarding in multihop ad hoc networks. The scheme utilizes RTS/CTS handshaking messages to measure channel quality while selecting the qualified candidate forwarding node. Larsson [20] introduced an adaptive forwarding scheme, denoted selection diversity forwarding (SDF), where nodes select best relay path based on local instantaneous knowledge at the time of forwarding packets. The author showed that SDF increases forward progress and throughput, especially in fading channel conditions. Recently, Larsson and Johnasson [21] proposed an opportunistic forwarding scheme, denoted multiuser diversity forwarding (MDF). The scheme jointly chooses relay node, data flow and transmission rate taking advantage of channel characteristics. Compared to SDF, MDF is shown to be more power efficient and yields a substantial throughput increase.

II-2 Energy-Oriented Power Control Approaches

Another technique for energy-efficient communication is to use power control to conserve energy. Instead of every node using the same transmission power, a transmitting

node will use minimum transmission power level that is required to communicate with the desired receiving node. This ensures that the necessary and sufficient transmission power is used over each link, hence, conserves energy and extends node's battery life. This has the added advantage of reducing interference with other on-going transmissions.

Power control approaches that aim at reducing energy consumption of nodes and prolong the lifetime of network have been utilized in the design of power-aware routing protocols. PAMAS is one such minimum total transmission energy protocol. In PAMAS [22], nodes can dynamically adjust their power based on the link distance and the link cost is set to transmission power. Later in [23], new metrics which consider residual energy at nodes are formulated for path selection. It is shown that the mean time of node failure is increased significantly by using these new metrics. Another power-aware routing protocol is PARO (power aware routing optimization) [24]. According to PARO protocol, a candidate intermediate node monitors an ongoing direct communication between two nodes and evaluates the potential for power savings by inserting itself in the forwarding path to reduce overall energy consumption in the network.

Power control is also utilized in the design of transmission techniques to reduce energy consumption. Pursley *et al.* [25] designed an adaptive transmission protocol, which utilizes channel information to adjust power and information rate of the transmitting signal to conserve energy. Kubisch *et al.* [26] proposed two distributed power control algorithms for controlling the number of neighbors to ensure network connectivity and increase the network lifetime. Tralli [27] proposed relay schemes based on node cooperation and coding and utilized power control to reduce the energy

consumed for transmission. An overview of various transmission power control approaches can be found in [28].

II-3 Node Cooperation with ARQ

Automatic repeat request (ARQ) protocol is typically employed in the data link layer that requires retransmission for the packets received in error. The basic idea of ARQ protocols can be described as follows: The transmitter prepends a header and appends a checksum to a data block. The resulting packet is then transmitted. The receiver checks the packet's integrity with the help of checksum and provides some feedback to the transmitter regarding the success of packet transmission. On receiving negative feedback, the transmitter performs a retransmission. In practice, the maximum number of retransmissions is usually limited so as to minimize the delay and buffer size. Such variant ARQ is called truncated ARQ protocol.

Dai and Letaief [29] proposed a cross-layer design which combines cooperative diversity in the physical layer and truncated ARQ in the link layer to improve system throughput. In the proposed scheme, when packet delivery fails, certain nodes are selected as relays based on channel conditions using CRC and then the source node and selected relays jointly retransmit the packet utilizing a STBC code. Monti *et al.* [30] described an ARQ-C protocol for the unique microwave recharged wireless sensor networks to yield reliable and fair data transmission from the sensor nodes to the base station. In the ARQ-C protocol, when the direct transmission from the sensor node to the base station fails, certain intermediate sensor nodes help during the retransmission process. The transmission power is optimized at each sensor node to increase the saturation throughput of ARQ protocol. Zhao and Valenti [31] introduced HARBINGER (hybrid-ARQ-based intracluster geographic relaying) protocol to networks comprising multiple relays operating over orthogonal time slots in a block fading environment. The authors studied the information-theoretic performance limits of relay networks using generalized hybrid ARQ. Their results indicate a significant improvement in throughput and energy-delay tradeoff.

Motivated by above research work, in this thesis, we propose a cooperative relay transmission scheme, denoted cooperative transmission and ARQ retransmission, for multihop communications in wireless sensor networks. The scheme uses relay nodes in conjunction with transmission power control to assist packer delivery from source to destination in the presence of fading. Channel information in the physical layer is explored over each link and utilized in the transmission power control and relay selection process. Transmission power of each data packet is adjusted using RTS/CTS handshaking messages. The cooperative relays are selected based on the cost function which reflects both transmit and receive energy consumption as well as node's residual energy. When packet delivery fails, a cooperative ARQ scheme is incorporated, whereby the retransmitted packets do not come from the transmitting node but instead be sent from an intermediate node that is located between transmitting and receiving nodes and that overhears the packet transmission. Detailed description of the proposed scheme is presented in Chapter III.

CHAPTER III

COOPERATIVE TRANSMISSION & ARQ RETRANSMISSION

III-1 System and Energy Model

We consider a data collection sensor network, where a sensor node collects data from the observed source region and wants to transmit it to the remote sink via a multihop infrastructureless architecture. At any given time instant, nodes can be classified as live or dead depending on whether they have energy left or not. The live nodes can operate in one of the four states: (i) sensing and data producing; (ii) relaying received data; (iii) idling; (iv) sleeping with power down. All the nodes can change their states dynamically with time.

We assume the wireless channel is subject to frequency flat Rayleigh fading, which is suitable for slow-varying fading environment such as sensor networks. The physical wireless channel has instantaneous received SNR, given by

$$\gamma = \Gamma \cdot \left| h \right|^2,\tag{1}$$

where |h| is the Rayleigh-distributed fading magnitude with $E\{|h|^2\} = 1$. The instantaneous SNR γ is a random variable with an exponential probability density function (pdf)

$$p_{\gamma}(\gamma) = \frac{1}{\Gamma} e^{-\frac{\gamma}{\Gamma}},$$
(2)

and $\Gamma = E\{\gamma\}$ represents the average received SNR modeled as

$$\Gamma = K \frac{P_{tx}}{P_N} \left(\frac{d}{d_0}\right)^{-n},\tag{3}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

where P_{tx} denotes the transmission power, P_N is the additive noise power at the receiver (equal for each receiver), $d_0 = 1$ m is a reference distance, d indicates the transmitterreceiver separation, n is the path loss exponent, and K is the channel attenuation at the

reference distance. For a 2.4GHz operating frequency,
$$K = \left(4\pi \times d_0 \times \frac{f_c}{c}\right)^2 \approx 10^4$$
.

In a typical sensor network, energy consumption can be largely categorized into two activities: (i) computation (such as sensing, data processing) and (ii) communication. Of two, communication is the most energy-intensive [1]. Energy conservation in this activity greatly improves the node's battery life, hence the lifetime of sensor network. The energy conservation model, shown in Figure 5, aims to formulate the energy consumption during the communication activity.

There are three major causes of energy depletion in a node during communication activity: (i) energy consumption for RF propagation; (ii) energy consumption in the transmitting hardware for operations such as encoding and modulation, and (iii) energy consumption in the receiving hardware for operations such as demodulation and decoding. For simplicity, we assume that the energy consumed in transmitter and receiver circuitry is same for all the nodes in the system, denoted by e_T^{elec} and e_R^{elec} , respectively. The energy consumed by transmitting a *k*-bit packet is modeled as

$$e^{tx}(k,d) = k \left(e_T^{elec} + \frac{P_{tx}(k,d^n)}{R_b} \right), \tag{4}$$

and the energy consumed by receiving a k-bit packet is given by

$$e^{rx}(k,d) = ke_{R}^{elec},$$
(5)

where $e_T^{elec} = e_R^{elec} = 50nJ/bit$, d is the Euclidean distance between transmitting and receiving nodes, P_{tx} denotes the packet transmission power from the transmit amplifier, n is the path loss exponent and R_b is the bit rate.



Figure 5: Energy consumption model.

The energy consumption model is adopted from [32], but there are two modifications: (i) the path loss exponent n is chosen to be four instead of two to capture the effect of low-lying antenna and near ground channel, which is typical in sensor network communications [33], and (ii) the transmission power of the transmit amplifier is explicitly expressed in the model because the transmit amplifier is the dominant energy-consuming part in the transmitter. We neglect any energy consumption that occurs when the node is in the sleep or idle state, and we also neglect the energy consumed for transmitting and receiving the acknowledgement message since it is much smaller in length than the data packet.

To conserve energy, we assume nodes in the sensor network are in sleep state for higher percentage of time and cycle on and off randomly. A perfect contention-free MAC protocol is employed in the link layer. We further assume a minimum-hop (MH) routing path is initially established from the original sensor node in source region to the remote sink over a few active nodes as shown in Figure 6. Since each node is allowed to set its own sleep/wakeup schedule autonomously, some other nodes nearby each MH hop path may turn active during the data transmission. Using these intermediate nodes to assist packet delivery can improve transmission efficiency.



Figure 6: A MH routing path is established from the origin sensor node to the remote sink over a few active nodes. Some other nodes may turn active during data packet transmission.

Figure 7 illustrates the idea of cooperative transmission over one MH hop. There

are three types of entities in this figure:

- Source (S) transmitting node over one hop of the MH route.
- Destination (D) receiving node over one hop of the MH route.
- Candidate relay nodes (R1 to R6) intermediate nodes that turn active during

data packet transmission.



Figure 7: Cooperative transmission over one MH hop: a double-hop topology.

We assume all the nodes are sufficiently apart so that channels among them are statistically independent. Instead of direct transmission from source to destination, certain number of intermediate nodes are selected as relays to assist the data packet transmission. Thus, we replace the direct hop topology between source and destination by two smaller hops via the selected relays, which we call a double-hop topology.

Our cooperative transmission scheme operates in two steps: (i) relay selection and (ii) cooperative data transmission. Transmission power control is incorporated into the scheme to conserve energy of each data packet transmission.

III-2 Transmission Power Control

It is reported that the transmit amplifier consumes more than half of the total communication-related energy and the ratio is expected to increase in the future, as the processing components become more power efficient [28]. In the energy consumption model, the power consumed by the dominant transmit amplifier is directly proportional to the transmit signal, and thus it is of great interest to control the signal transmission power to increase the node's lifetime.

Suppose a packet is transmitted from node S to node D, the received power at node D can be formulated by

$$P_D^{\prime x} = P_S^{\prime x} \frac{g_{SD}}{d_{SD}^4},\tag{6}$$

17

where P_S^{tx} is the transmission power at node S, d_{SD} is the distance between node S and node D, and g_{SD} is the channel random fading gain. We assume g_{SD} is stationary for the duration of the control and data packet transmission and receiver can obtain perfect channel knowledge.

We assume that a packet can be received without error if the SNR of the received signal is above a certain threshold (SNR_{th}) and that no information is received otherwise. Since the SNR is determined by the received signal power and the additive noise power (assumed to be equal at each receiver), a certain level of receiver sensitivity P_{rmin} (given in dBm) is required, which specifies the minimum signal power at the receiver needed to achieve a prescribed SNR_{th} or a prescribed bit/packet error rate performance.

We assume that all the nodes in the network are able to dynamically adjust transmission power across the links. Each node chooses the transmission power level for a link so that the signal reaches the destination node with the same constant received power (P_{rmin}).

The transmission power control in our cooperative scheme is accomplished by using MAC layer RTS-CTS handshaking messages with limited overhead. As illustrated in Figure 8, in order to adjust the transmission power of data packet, node A first sends RTS message at maximum power level (P_{tmax}) to node B. Node B measures the received power of RTS (P_{RTS}^{rx}) and determines the desired transmission power of data packet at

$$P_{data}^{tx} = P_{r\min} \frac{d^4}{g} = P_{r\min} \frac{P_{r\max}}{P_{RTS}^{rx}},$$
(7)

Node B then sends P_{data}^{tx} back to node A with CTS message. Node A uses the new power to send the following data packet.



Figure 8: Transmission power of data packet is adjusted to minimum level using MAC layer RTS/CTS handshaking messages.

With this power control approach, the transmission power of each data packet is adjusted to the minimum level to be just enough to reach the intended receiver while still satisfying the prescribed bit/packet error rate performance. Since the data packet contains much more bits than the handshaking messages, significant energy savings can be achieved.

III-3 Relay Selection

The relay selection process exploits the broadcast property of wireless communication to select nodes that are best qualified to serve as relays in the packet delivery from the source to the destination.

When the source has data packet to send, it first broadcasts a RTS message at $P_{t_{max}}$. The RTS message contains how many nodes will serve as relays (denoted by J). Each node that receives the RTS examines: (i) its remaining energy level and (ii) its distance to the destination, and computes (iii) desired transmission power of data packet.

Based on the information, each node evaluates the cost of serving as relay and sends back CTS message attaching the desired data power. To avoid concurrent transmission while sending CTS, different time-window is applied at each node and the waiting interval is made proportional to the node's cost, i.e.,

$$Interval_{R} = Cost_{R} \times 100 \text{ msec.}$$
(8)

Consequently, nodes with smaller cost will send CTS at earlier time. Assume CTS message can be heard by all the other nodes and nodes have the capability to count the number of CTS transmission times. Only first J nodes need to reply and they are the selected relays. With this approach, both collision and unnecessary CTS transmissions can be avoided.

The cost function evaluated at each candidate relay node contains both link costs from source to relays and from relays to destination. Each link cost reflects both the transmit and receive energy consumption as well as the nodes' residual energy level, similar to the case in [34]. To be specific, we define the link cost from source to relay R_i as follows:

$$Cost_{SR_{i}} = \underbrace{e_{SR_{i}}^{tx} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{S}}{\underline{E}_{S}}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{\text{source}\\\text{Transmission}}} + \underbrace{e_{SR_{i}}^{rx} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_{i}}}{\underline{E}_{R_{i}}}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{\text{relayR}_{i}\\\text{Reception}}} = \left(e_{T}^{elec} + \frac{P_{r\min}P_{t\max}}{P_{R_{i}-RTS}^{rx}R_{b}}\right) \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{S}}{\underline{E}_{S}}\right)^{-x} + e_{R}^{elec} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_{i}}}{\underline{E}_{R_{i}}}\right)^{-x}, \quad (9)$$

where E_S , E_{R_i} and E_S , E_{R_i} denote initial and residual energy levels at source and relay R_i , respectively. x is a non-negative weighting exponent on the remaining energy. Note that the residual energy is normalized by the initial energy because sensor nodes can have different initial energy levels. $e_{SR_i}^{tx}$ is the energy expenditure during transmission and $e_{SR_i}^{rx}$ is the energy consumed during reception, as defined in (4) and (5) of the energy

consumption model. Similarly, the cost of the link originated from relay R_i to destination is given by

$$Cost_{R,D} = \underbrace{e_{R,D}^{tx} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_i}}{E_{R_i}}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{relayR_i \\ Transmission}} + \underbrace{e_{R_iD}^{rx} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_D}{E_D}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{destination \\ \text{Reception}}} = \left(e_T^{elec} + \frac{P_{rmin} d_{R_iD}^4}{R_b}\right) \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_i}}{E_{R_i}}\right)^{-x} + e_R^{elec} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{D_i}}{E_D}\right)^{-x}.$$
 (10)

Hence, the cost for intermediate node R_i to serve as relay can be formulated as:

$$Cost_{R_{i}} = \underbrace{e_{SR_{i}}^{tx} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{S}}{\underline{E}_{S}}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{source \\ Transmission}} + \underbrace{\left(e_{SR_{i}}^{rx} + e_{R_{i}D}^{tx}\right) \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_{i}}}{\underline{E}_{R_{i}}}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{relayR_{i} \\ \text{Reception+Transmission}}}.$$
(11)

Note that the cost function (11) explores link quality from source to relays. This channel knowledge is obtained by exchanging RTS/CTS messages and is utilized in the computation of desired transmission power of data packet at the source. Since the link quality from relays to destination is unknown, only the distance information is used in the cost computation. By using this cost function, the node that are facing energy exhaustion and the nodes that may consume too much energy during packet transmission will be avoided to serve as relays.

III-4 Cooperative Data Transmission

After relay selection, source sends the data packet to the selected relays using the desired transmission power (maximum of the received *J* data power levels contained in CTSs). Because the relays are located closer to the source than the destination is, they can offload a major portion of transmission power consumed at the source. Moreover, relays can receive the data packet more reliably due to the relay selection process.

Next, selected relays forward the received data copies over uncorrelated channel to the destination. The aforementioned time-window approach can be used to avoid concurrent transmission. At the destination, different data copies are maximal ratio combined (MRC) to achieve spatial diversity gain. For the same prescribed packet error rate constraints, the achieved diversity gain enables the use of less transmission power at the relay nodes, hence improves energy efficiency.

When the destination receives the packet correctly, it sends a positive acknowledgement (ACK) message, otherwise, a negative acknowledgement (NACK) message is sent. We assume that ACK and NACK transmissions are error-and-delay free.

III-5 Cooperative ARQ

For reliable communications, the automatic repeat request (ARQ) protocol is typically employed in the data link layer to handle packet retransmission. The conventional ARQ scheme requires the transmitting node retransmit until the packet is successfully delivered or a preset retry limit is exceeded. In flat fading environment, such as sensor networks, the packet length is usually short as compared to the average fade duration. In that case, if a packet is hit by a deep fade, a retransmission will likely be hit by the same deep fade and is thus a waste of energy.

To improve packet retransmission efficiency, we introduce a cooperative ARQ scheme. Due to the broadcast nature of wireless medium, certain nodes located between selected relays and destination may overhear the data packet transmission, and one of them can be selected to retransmit the packet to the destination. We call this node the retransmission relay. The detailed process is described as follows.

When destination broadcasts a NACK message, nodes that have overheard the data packet send RTS messages to the destination at $P_{t_{max}}$. The waiting time to send RTS at each node can be made proportional to the link cost from the node to the destination. Destination measures received power of RTS ($P_{RTS-R_i}^{rx}$) and replies each RTS with CTS message attaching $P_{RTS-R_i}^{rx}$. Each candidate node then computes the desired data retransmission power and evaluates the cost of serving as the retransmission relay, given by

$$Cost_{R_iD}^{retx} = \underbrace{e_{R_iD}^{tx} \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_i}}{E_{R_i}}\right)^{-x}}_{\substack{relayR_i\\Transmission}} = \left(e_T^{elec} + P_{r\min} \frac{P_{t\max}}{P_{RTS-R_i}^{rx}R_b}\right) \left(\frac{\underline{E}_{R_i}}{E_{R_i}}\right)^{-x}.$$
(12)

The one with the minimum cost will transmit the packet to destination using the desired power. For example, in Figure 9, nodes R2 and R3 are selected as cooperative relays and nodes R4, R5 and R6 overheard the packet transmission from nodes R2 and R3 to the destination. In case of packet delivery failure, node R6 is selected to serve as retransmission relay. With cooperative ARQ, the packet retransmission are more energy efficient and reliable.



Figure 9: Cooperative ARQ: intermediate nodes help during packet retransmission.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

In a sense, cooperative transmission and ARQ retransmission scheme provides a way to distribute energy consumption among multiple nodes to accomplish reliable and energy efficient data delivery in wireless sensor networks. The scheme simultaneously exploits two potentials offered by wireless relay systems: spatial diversity gains and pathloss savings. The spatial diversity gains are achieved since different data copies are transmitted over uncorrelated channels and diversity-combined at the destination. The path-loss savings are achieved because relays are located between the source and the destination, which shortens the length of individual hops and thus reduce the transmission energy consumption at both source and relays. Moreover, relays can receive the packet transmission by the source much more reliably than the destination. Since the relays are selected right before each data packet transmission, the scheme can be on-demand and hence adaptive to the frequent-changing characteristics of wireless sensor networks. Further, the scheme is able to alleviate the problem of excessive energy consumption at certain mission-critical node for a more balanced network lifetime.

CHAPTER IV

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS AND SIMULATION RESULTS

IV-1 Packet Delivery Ratio Analysis

Consider the double-hop topology as shown in Figure 7. Assume N number of intermediate nodes are located between the source and the destination, and J of them are required to serve as cooperative relays (N=6 and J=2 in Figure 7). Let p_f denotes fading probability over one link, which can be evaluated as:

$$p_f = prob\left(g < \frac{P_{r\min}d^4}{P_{tx}}\right) = 1 - e^{-\frac{P_{r\min}d^4}{P_{tx}}},$$
 (13)

where $P_{r\min}$ is the receiver sensitivity, *d* is the distance between transmitting and receiving nodes, P_{tx} denotes the transmission power and *g* is the random fading power gain. With flat Rayleigh fading assumption, *g* is exponential distributed with probability density function (pdf)

$$p_g(x) = \frac{1}{\Omega_g} e^{-\frac{x}{\Omega_g}},\tag{14}$$

where $\Omega_g = \frac{P_{tx}}{d^4}$ is the average envelope power [35].

For direct transmission scheme, since there is only one link from source to destination, and no intermediate nodes involves in packet transmission, the packet delivery ratio η_d is simply

$$\eta_d = 1 - p_{f_0} = e^{\frac{P_{r \min} d_{SD}^4}{P_S^{tr}}},$$
(15)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

where d_{SD} denotes the distance between source and destination, and P_{S}^{tx} is data transmission power at the source.

For cooperative transmission scheme, the packet transmission operates in two stages: from source to relays and from relays to destination. Hence, the average packet delivery ratio η_c is the multiplication of the packet delivery ratios over these two stages:

$$\eta_c = \eta_{SR} \cdot \eta_{RD}, \tag{16}$$

where $\eta_{\rm SR}$ denotes the packet delivery ratio from source to selected relays, formulated as

$$\eta_{SR} = 1 - \sum_{i=0}^{J-1} {N \choose i} (1 - p_{f_1})^i p_{f_1}^{N-i}, \qquad (17)$$

and $\eta_{\scriptscriptstyle RD}$ is the packet delivery ratio from relays to the destination, given by

$$\eta_{RD} = 1 - p_{f_2}^{\ J}, \tag{18}$$

N denotes number of intermediate nodes between source and destination, J is the prescribed number of cooperative nodes, p_{f_1} and p_{f_2} are the fading probabilities over these two transmission links, which can be evaluated from (13).

IV-2 Energy Consumption Analysis

We next analyze energy consumption per correctly received packet using the parameters in our energy consumption model and the previous derived average packet delivery ratio.

For direct transmission scheme, the energy consumed by successfully transmitting a *k*-bit packet from source to destination is formulated as

$$E_{d} = \frac{k\left(e_{T}^{elec} + \frac{P_{S}^{tx}}{R_{b}} + e_{R}^{elec}\eta_{d}\right)}{\eta_{d}},$$
(19)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

where e_T^{elec} and e_R^{elec} are the parameters coming from the energy consumption model, which represent energy dissipated to run the transmitter and receiver circuitry, respectively. P_S^{tx} denotes the transmission power at source, R_b is the bit rate, and η_d is the average packet delivery ratio of the direct transmission, as derived in (15).

For cooperative transmission scheme, we first evaluate the energy consumption of transmitting a k-bit packet from the source to the selected relays, i.e.,

$$E_{SR} = k \left(e_T^{elec} + \frac{P_{SR}^{tx}}{R_b} + J e_R^{elec} \eta_{SR} \right), \tag{20}$$

and then we analyze the energy consumption of transmitting one packet from the selected relays to the destination, given by

$$E_{RD} = k \eta_{SR} \left[J \left(e_T^{elec} + \frac{P_{RD}^{tx}}{R_b} \right) + e_R^{elec} \eta_{RD} \right].$$
(21)

Hence, the overall energy consumption per correctly received packet is formulated as

$$E_{c} = \frac{E_{SR} + E_{RD}}{\eta_{c}} = \frac{k \left[e_{T}^{elec} \left(1 + J\eta_{SR} \right) + \frac{P_{SR}^{ix} + JP_{RD}^{ix} \eta_{SR}}{R_{b}} + e_{R}^{elec} \eta_{SR} \left(J + \eta_{RD} \right) \right]}{\eta_{c}}, \qquad (22)$$

where P_{SR}^{tx} and P_{RD}^{tx} denote transmission power of sending data packet from source to relays and from relays to destination, respectively. η_{SR} and η_{RD} are the packet delivery ratio over these two links, as derived in (17) and (18), respectively.

The comparison of analytical and simulation results will be addressed in section IV-9.

IV-3 Simulation Model

We assume a minimum-hop (MH) routing path from the data-collecting sensor node to the remote sink is initially established over a few active nodes and the topology over each MH hop is shown in Figure 7. The simulated system uses packets with size 100bits transmitted at a rate of 10kbaud over frequency-flat Rayleigh fading channel using uncoded QPSK. The channel fading gain is randomly generated and invariant during each handshaking sequence (RTS-CTS-DATA-ACK) transmission process.

Since no FEC coding is used, the packet will be received correctly only if all bits in the packet are correct. If each bit inside the packet has the same bit error rate (BER) and bit errors are uncorrelated, the instantaneous packet error rate (PER) can be related to BER through

$$PER = 1 - (1 - BER)^k, \qquad (23)$$

where k denotes the packet size. With the noise power to be -128dBm at receiver, a certain level of receiver sensitivity (P_{rmin}) is required to guarantee the packet error rate no larger than prescribed target value. The transmission power is adjusted for each data packet over each link with maximum value restricted to 0.5W. Each node is initially supplied with energy of 10J and transmission retry limit is set to be 3. Table 1 lists all the simulation parameters.

| Parameter | Description | Value / Range |
|----------------|--|---------------|
| R _b | Bit rate | 20kbps |
| В | Baud rate | 10kbaud |
| k | Packet size | 100bit |
| x | Non-negative weighting factor in cost function | 30 |
| n | Path loss exponent | 4 |

Table 1: Simulation parameters

| E | Node's initial energy level | 10J |
|--------------------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| e _T ^{elec} | Energy dissipated to run transmitter circuity | 50nJ/bit |
| e _R ^{elec} | Energy dissipated to run receiver circuity | 50nJ/bit |
| N | Number of intermediate nodes over one MH hop | 5-20 |
| J | Number of cooperative nodes over one MH hop | 1–5 |
| d | Distance over one MH hop | 5-40m |
| P _{tmax} | Maximum allowed transmission power at each node | 0.5W |
| P _{rmin} | Receive sensitivity | -105dBm-70dBm |
| P_N | Noise power at receiver | 1.6×10 ⁻¹⁶ W(-128dBm) |
| N ₀ | Single-sided noise spectrum density | 8×10 ⁻²¹ W/Hz(-171dBm) |
| hopno | Number of MH hops | 3, 5 |
| pktno | Total number of packets that are sent | 100, 200, 300 |
| retryno | Maximum allowed retransmission times | 1, 3 |
| PER | Receiver target packet error rate | 10 ⁻¹ -10 ⁻⁴ |
| | | |

IV-4 Comparison of Cooperative and Non-cooperative Schemes

We first conduct simulations to compare our proposed scheme with other cooperative and non-cooperative schemes shown in Table 2.

| Scheme | Description | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Cooperative transmission and ARQ retransmission (CoopTx&Retx) | Source \rightarrow selected relays; selected relays \rightarrow destination. One intermediate node retransmits packet. | | | |
| Cooperative relay transmission only (CoopTxOnly) | Source \rightarrow selected relays; selected relays \rightarrow destination. Selected relays retransmit packet | | | |
| Non-cooperative relay transmission (NonCoopTx) | Source \rightarrow a minimum cost relay; this relay \rightarrow destination. This relay retransmits packet. | | | |
| Cooperative retransmission only (RetxCoop) | Source \rightarrow destination. One intermediate node retransmits packet. | | | |
| Direct transmission (Direct) | Source \rightarrow destination. Source retransmits packet. | | | |
| Mid relay transmission (MidRelay) | A node is deployed on halfway from source to destination to serve as relay. | | | |

Table 2: Simulation schemes

To evaluate energy efficiency, we first consider the energy consumption per successful packet, which is computed by dividing overall energy expenditure by the total number of packets correctly received at the destination. In simulations, two hundred (pktno=200) packets are sent over a three-hop (hopno=3) MH route, eight (N=8) intermediate nodes are generated randomly nearby each hop and two (J=2) of them are required to serve as relays. The results are shown in Figure 10. We observe that compared to other cooperative and non-cooperative schemes, significant energy savings can be achieved by our proposed scheme especially when small packet error rate at receiver is required.



Figure 10: Comparison of different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=200, N=8, J=2, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver target PER.

Next, we look at the minimum of all the nodes' residual energy level after sending two hundred packets over a three-hop MH route. Figure 11 presents the results. As can be seen, the proposed scheme achieves highest minimum of nodes' residual energy level, which indicates that overall energy expenditure can be distributed more evenly over multiple nodes to prolong sensor network lifetime.



Figure 11: Comparison of different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=200, N=8, J=2, d=20): minimum of node residual energy vs receiver target PER.

To evaluate reliability of packet transmission, we compared the average packet delivery ratio of different schemes. Figure 12 shows that our scheme has the highest average packet delivery ratio.



Figure 12: Comparison of different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=200, N=8, J=2, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs receiver target PER.

IV-5 Extension to Two Next-hop Nodes Scenario

We extended all the schemes (except mid relay scheme) in Table 2 from one to two next-hop node(s) scenario and compared their performance. The two next-hop nodes scenario of our proposed scheme is illustrated in Figure 13. Note that now there are two nodes (D1 and D2) available to receive the packet transmission from the selected relays. The packet delivery fails only when both D1 and D2 can not receive the packet correctly. In case that both of them receive packet correctly, the one with larger remaining energy will serve as the destination, i.e., the source of next MH hop path.



Figure 13: Two next-hop nodes scenario of cooperative transmission over one MH hop.

We conducted simulations to compare the performance of one and two next-hop node(s) scenario where three hundred (pktno=300) packets are sent over a three-hop (hopno=3) MH path and two (J=2) out of eight (N=8) intermediate nodes are selected as cooperative relays. Results are shown in Figures 14-16. Figure 14 compares energy consumption per successfully received packet of different schemes under one and two next-hop nodes scenarios. Figure 15 and Figure 16 compare the minimum of nodes' residual energy and the average packet delivery ratio, respectively. It is observed that the performance improvement of using two next-hop nodes is more evident for non-cooperative schemes than the cooperative schemes. This is because using two next-hop

nodes provides receiver diversity, hence, improving the performance. Since our cooperative relay scheme has explored spatial diversity to a good extent, additional diversity gain from two next-hop nodes only improves the performance slightly.



Figure 14: Comparison of one and two next-hop node(s) scenarios of different cooperative and non cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=300, N=8, J=2, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver target PER.



Figure 15: Comparison of one and two next-hop node(s) scenarios of different cooperative and non cooperative schemes (hopno=3, pktno=300, N=8, J=2, d=20): minimum of node residual energy vs receiver target PER.



Figure 16: Comparison of one and two next-hop node(s) scenarios of different cooperative and non cooperative schemes (*hopno=3*, *pktno=300*, *N=8*, *J=2*, *d=20*): average packet delivery ratio vs receiver target PER.

IV-6 Effect of Number of Cooperative relays and TPC

Since node cooperation and transmission power control play important roles to enhance energy efficiency and transmission reliability in our proposed scheme, it is worthwhile to investigate the effect of number of cooperative relays (denoted by J) and the influence of transmission power control. Three transmission power cases are examined and compared in our simulations.

- Ideal TPC: transmission power adjustment is based on both link distance and channel state information.
- Non Ideal TPC: transmission power adjustment is based on link distance only.
- No TPC: data packet is transmitted at maximum power level.

In simulations, we fixed receiver sensitivity at certain moderate value (-84dBm) and varied number of cooperative relays (J) from 1 to 5. Note that J=1 represents non-cooperative relay scheme. The performances of ideal, non ideal and no TPC cases are

compared in Figures 17-19, where energy consumption per successful packet is shown in Figure 17, Figure 18 shows the minimum of nodes' residual energy and Figure 19 plots the average packet delivery ratio.

As can be seen from Figure 17, considerable energy savings can be achieved when J goes from 1 to 2, showing the benefits of node cooperation. After that when J increases from 2 to 5, for the two variable transmission power cases (Ideal TPC and Non Ideal TPC), the energy savings become small while for the fixed transmission power case (No TPC), the energy consumption increases. This is because when more nodes are involved in cooperation, the overall transmission energy consumption can be reduced due to the increased spatial diversity gains, but the overall reception energy consumption will also increase. Similar observation is obtained regarding the minimum of nodes' residual energy (Figure 18). Generally, in terms of energy efficiency, No TPC performs worse than Ideal TPC and Non Ideal TPC.

In terms of average delivery ratio (Figure 19), again, performance improves when J goes from 1 to 2. However, this time, No TPC performs better than Non Ideal TPC. This is because, in No TPC case, each data packet is transmitted at the maximum power level, while in Non Ideal TPC case, the data transmission power is adjusted based on the link distance, hence, it becomes smaller, while in both cases channel is unknown.



Figure 17: Comparison of cooperative scheme with Ideal, Non Ideal and No TPC (*hopno=3*, pktno=100, N=20, Prmin=-84dBm, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs number of cooperative relays J.



Figure 18: Comparison of cooperative scheme with Ideal, Non Ideal and No TPC (*hopno=3*, *pktno=100*, *N=20*, *Prmin=-84dBm*, *d=20*): minimum of relay node residuale energy vs number of cooperative relays J.



Figure 19: Comparison of cooperative scheme with Ideal, Non Ideal and No TPC (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, Prmin=-84dBm, d=20): (c) average packet delivery ratio vs number of cooperative relays J.

To further investigate the effect of number of cooperative relays and power control, we compared the performance of different J (from 1 to 5) varying the receiver sensitivity. The number of intermediate nodes N is fixed at twenty (N=20) and one hundred packets are sent over a three-hop MH route. The results of energy consumption, minimum of nodes' residual energy under three transmission power cases are shown in Figures 20-22 and Figures 23-25, respectively.



Figure 20: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under Ideal TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver sensitivity.



Figure 21: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under Non Ideal TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver sensitivity.



Figure 22: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under No TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver sensitivity.



Figure 23: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under Ideal TPC case (*hopno=3*, *pktno=100*, *N=20*, *d=20*): minimum of node residual energy vs. receiver sensitivity.



Figure 24: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under Non Ideal TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): minimum of node residual energy vs. receiver sensitivity.



Figure 25: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under No TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): minimum of node residual energy vs. receiver sensitivity.

As observed from Figures 20-25, when receiver sensitivity is good (small value), cooperative relay scheme (J > 1) improves performance under both Ideal and Non Ideal TPC cases, but it has no advantages when more than two relays are involved in cooperation. In no TPC case with good receiver sensitivity, non-cooperative scheme is

more energy-efficient. On the other hand, when receiver sensitivity gets poor, the benefits of node cooperation grow up for all three transmission power cases, and more nodes involved, better performance can be achieved.



Figure 26: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under Ideal TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs. receiver sensitivity.



Figure 27: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under Non Ideal TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs. receiver sensitivity.



Figure 28: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of cooperative relays (J) under No TPC case (hopno=3, pktno=100, N=20, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs. receiver sensitivity.

We then examine the performance of average packet delivery ratio under different transmission power cases, shown in Figures 26-28. Again, we observe that packet delivery ratio increases considerably when J goes from 1 to 2, due to the benefits of node cooperation. However, when J increases from 2 to 5, the performance of large J is not always better than that of small J. Instead, at poor receiver sensitivity level (larger than - 80dBm), packet delivery ratio improves first then drops for all three transmission power cases (e.g. J=3 performs better than J=2, 4, 5). When receiver sensitivity gets worse (larger than -75dBm), the performance of large J starts improving (J = 5 is now better than J=2). This phenomena can be explained by relay selection process, where J out of N number of intermediate nodes has to be selected as relays, i.e., all of them must be able to receive data packet correctly, otherwise, the packet delivery fails. With fixed number of intermediate nodes (N) and unpredictable fading environment, it is likely packet delivery ratio drops at large value of J. To confirm it, we conducted simulation with ten intermediate nodes (N=10), and obtained similar but more evident results.

IV-7 Effect of Number of Intermediate Nodes

To evaluate effect of number of intermediate nodes (N), we conducted simulations with fixed two number of cooperative relays (J=2) and compared performance of different N (N=5, 10, 15 and 20) varying the receiver sensitivity. The results of energy consumption per successful packet, minimum of relay node residual energy and average packet delivery ratio, are shown in Figures 29-31, respectively.



Figure 29: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of intermediate nodes (N) (hopno=3, pktno=100, J=2, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver sensitivity.



Figure 30: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of intermediate nodes (N) (hopno=3, pktno=100, J=2, d=20): minimum of relay node residual energy vs receiver sensitivity.



Figure 31: Comparison of cooperative scheme with different number of intermediate nodes (N) (hopno=3, pktno=100, J=2, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs receiver sensitivity.

From Figure 29, we observe that energy savings is evident when N goes from 5 to 10, however, when N is from 10 to 15 and 20, the energy savings is small. This is intuitive since large N means more nodes turn active and are available to be chosen as relays, for only two cooperating relays needed, too many nodes available is not

necessary. Similar trends are observed in terms of minimum of nodes residual energy and average packet delivery ratio.

IV-8 Effect of CSI and Transmission Distance

In our scheme, channel state information (CSI) in the physical layer is explored over each link and utilized in relay selection process and transmission power control. Figures 32-33 compares energy efficiency with and without instantaneous CSI. We observe that the energy savings achieved by cooperative scheme with CSI is more pronounced than the scheme without CSI especially at small packet error rate requirement.



Figure 32: Comparison of cooperative scheme with and without channel state information (CSI) (hopno=3, pktno=20, N=8, J=2, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver target PER.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 33: Comparison of cooperative scheme with and without channel state information (CSI) (*hopno=3*, *pktno=20*, *N=8*, *J=2*, *d=20*): minimum of node residual energy vs receiver target PER.

We further examine the effect of transmission distance on the energy efficiency. We ran simulations where two hundred packets are sent over a five-hop MH route, and over each hop two out of eight nodes are required to serve as cooperative relays. We varied transmission distance per hop from 5m to 40m while fixing the receiver sensitivity at -94dBm to compare the energy consumption and the minimum of node residual energy of different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes in Table 2. The results are shown in Figures 34-35. As expected, more energy is consumed when transmitting at longer distance and for long range transmissions, the proposed scheme gains more advantages.



Figure 34: Impact of transmission distance on different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (*hopno=5*, *pktno=200*, *N=8*, *J=2*, *Prmin=-94dBm*): energy consumption per bit vs transmission distance per hop.



Figure 35: Impact of transmission distance on different cooperative and non-cooperative schemes (*hopno=5*, *pktno=200*, *N=8*, *J=2*, *Prmin=-94dBm*): minimum of node residual energy vs. transmission distance per hop.

IV-9 Comparison of Theoretical and Simulation Results

We analyzed average packet delivery ratio and energy consumption in section IV-1 and IV-2, respectively. The analytical results are derived in equations (15) to (22). In order to compare the theoretical analysis and simulation results, we set distance between source and destination to be 20m and the distances from source to relays and from relays to destination to be 10m and 12.7m, respectively. Ten intermediate nodes (N=10) are generated randomly over each MH hop and J of them are selected as cooperative relays. The packet retry limit is set to 1. We compared theoretical and simulation results of relay scheme for J from 1 to 5 and the direct transmission scheme (J=0). Figures 36 shows the results of average packet delivery ratio and Figure 37 shows the energy consumption per successful packet. We observe a good agreement between theoretical analysis and simulation results in both average packet delivery ratio and effective packet energy consumption for all the comparison schemes.



Figure 36: Comparison of theoretical and simulation results for direct, non-cooperative (J=1) and cooperative (J from 2 to 5) schemes (hopno=1, pktno=200, N=10, retryno=1, d=20): energy consumption per successful packet vs receiver sensitivity.



Figure 37: Comparison of theoretical and simulation results for direct, non-cooperative (J=1) and cooperative (J from 2 to 5) schemes (hopno=1, pktno=200, N=10, retryno=1, d=20): average packet delivery ratio vs receiver sensitivity.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS

V-1 Summary of Contributions

We have proposed a cooperative transmission scheme, denoted cooperative transmission and ARQ retransmission, for multihop communications in wireless sensor networks. The scheme uses relay nodes in conjunction with transmission power control and cooperative ARQ to improve energy efficiency and transmission reliability of packet delivery in the presence of fading.

The cooperative transmission scheme consists of relay selection followed by cooperative data transmission. The cost function is evaluated in relay selection process and it reflects both node's residual energy level as well as energy consumed during packet transmission and reception. Transmission power control is employed over each link for each data packet transmission and is accomplished by using MAC layer RTS-CTS handshaking messages with limited overhead. Channel information is explored in relay selection process and utilized in transmission power adjustment. Moreover, a cooperative ARQ is incorporated, where an intermediate node is selected to help packet retransmission.

We performed theoretical analysis of average packet delivery ratio and energy consumption of cooperative relay scheme and compared to the simulation results. A good agreement is observed between analytical and simulation results.

In simulations, we first compared our proposed scheme with other five cooperative and non-cooperative schemes. The results show that the proposed

cooperative relay scheme improves energy efficiency, reliable packet delivery ratio and extends nodes battery lifetime.

Then, we extended all the six simulation schemes from one to two next-hop node(s) scenario and compared their performance. The results show that the benefits of using two next-hop nodes are more evident for non-cooperative schemes than for cooperative schemes and using two next-hop nodes only improves the performance of our cooperative relay scheme slightly.

Next, we examined the effects of various factors on system performance including number of cooperative relays (J), transmission power control (TPC), number of intermediate nodes (N), channel state information (CSI) and transmission distance. The simulation-based studies are summarized as follows:

- Increasing number of cooperative relay nodes gains more advantages in energy efficiency when receiver sensitivity is poor. In case of good receiver sensitivity and fixed maximum transmission power scenario (No TPC), noncooperative relay scheme performs better.
- More nodes involved in cooperation do not monotonically results in the increased packet delivery ratio. Instead, the average packet delivery ratio increases first then drops due to the relay selection process.
- Cooperative relaying with ideal TPC performs best in both energy efficiency and average packet delivery ratio while an energy and packet delivery ratio trade-off is observed between non ideal TPC and no TPC cases.
- Increasing number of intermediate nodes improves performance but return diminishes when it is considerably larger than number of cooperative relays .

- Energy savings achieved by our cooperative scheme with CSI is more pronounced than that without CSI especially when small receiver packet error rate is required.
- The proposed scheme has more advantages for long range transmission.

V-2 Future Work

The improved energy efficiency and packet delivery ratio of our cooperative scheme comes at the price of more transmission time due to the increased number of hops and additional processing in relay selection and transmission power control. It is interesting to investigate energy-delay trade-off and additional cost from TPC. Another interesting issue is the optimization of number of cooperative nodes to maximize both packet delivery ratio and energy efficiency when perfect channel state information is unavailable. In this work, the proposed scheme is applied over the MH routing path. Incorporating node cooperation with other popular routing protocols, such as DSR, AODV etc., is also worth pursuing. We leave these problems for the future research.

REFERENCES

- I. Akyildiz, W. Su, Y. Sankarasubramaniam, and E. Cayirci, "Wireless sensor networks: a survey," *The International Journal of Computer and Telecommunications Networking (COMMNET)*, Elsevier, vol. 38, no. 4, Mar. 2002, pp. 393-442.
- [2] J. Wang, H. Yu, and Z. Shang, "Research on reliable link layer communication in wireless sensor networks," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Communications, Circuits* and Systems (ICCCAS'05), vol. 1, Hongkong, China, May 2005, pp. 417–421.
- [3] J. G. Foschini, "Layered space-time architecture for wireless communication in a fading environment when using multi element antennas," *Bell Labs Tech, J.*, vol. 2, Autumn 1996, pp. 41–59.
- [4] V. Tarokh, N. Seshadri and A. R. Calderbank, "Space-time codes for high data rate wireless communication: Performance criterion and code construction," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 44, no. 2, Mar. 1998, pp. 744–765.
- [5] V. Tarokh, H. J. Jafarkhani and A. R. Calderbank, "Space-time block codes from orthogonal designs," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 45, no. 5, Jul. 1999, pp. 1456– 1467.
- [6] S. M. Alamouti, "A simple transmit diversity technique for wireless communications," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 16, no. 8, Oct. 1998, pp. 1451–1458.
- [7] A. Sendonaris, E. Erkip, and B. Anzhang, "User cooperation diversity, part I, II," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 51, no. 11, Nov. 2003, pp. 1927–1948.

- [8] J. N. Laneman, D. N. C. Tse, and G. W. Wornell, "Cooperative diversity in wireless networks: efficient protocols and outage behavior," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 50, no. 12, Dec. 2004, pp. 3062–3080.
- J. N. Laneman and G. W. Wornell, "Distributed space-time coded protocols for exploiting cooperative diversity in wireless networks," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 49, no. 10, Oct. 2003, pp. 2415–2425.
- [10] S. Cui and A. J. Goldsmith, "Cross-layer optimization of sensor networks based on cooperative MIMO techniques with rate adaptation," presented at the 6th IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC'04), New York, NY, Jun. 2005. pp. 960–964.
- [11] S. K. Jayaweera, "Energy efficienct virtual MIMO-based cooperative communications for wireless sensor networks", in *Proc. 2nd Int. Conf. Intelligent Sensing and Information Processing (ICISIP'05)*, Chennai, India, Jan. 2005, pp. 1–6.
- [12] X. Li, M.Chen, and W. Liu, "Application of STBC-encoded cooperative transmissions in wireless sensor networks," *IEEE Signal Process. Lett.*, vol. 12, no. 2, Feb. 2005, pp. 134–137.
- [13] C. Cheng and H. T. Kung, "Use of relay in extending network lifetime," in *Proc.* 60th IEEE Conf. Vehicular Technology (VTC'04 Fall), vol. 7, Los Angeles, CA,
 Sept. 2004, pp. 4655–4659.
- [14] J. Luo, R. S. Blum, L. J. Greenstein, and L. J. Cimini, "New approaches for cooperative use of multiple antennas in ad hoc wireless networks," in *Proc. 60th*

IEEE Conf. Vehicular Technology (VTC'04 – Fall), vol. 4, Los Angeles, CA, Sept. 2004, pp. 2769–2773.

- [15] L. Liu and H. Ge, "Space-time coding for wireless sensor networks with cooperative routing diversity," in Proc. 38th Asilomar Conf. Signals, Systems and Computers (ACCSSC'04), vol. 1, Pacific Grove, CA, Nov. 2004, pp. 1271–1275.
- [16] S. Chen, U. Mitra, and B. Krishnamachari, "Invited paper: cooperative communication and routing over fading channels in wireless sensor networks," in *Proc. Int. Conf. Wireless Networks, Communications and Mobile Computing* (WIRELESSCOM'05), vol. 2, Maui, Hawaii, Jun. 2005, pp. 1477–1482.
- [17] F. Xie, H. Tian, P. Zhang, and N. Yang, "Cooperative routing strategies in ad hoc networks" in *Proc. 61st IEEE Conf. Vehicular Technology (VTC'05 Spring)*, vol. 4, Stockholm, Sweden, May 2005, pp. 2509–2512.
- [18] M. C. Valenti and N. Correal, "Exploiting macrodiversity in dense multihop networks and relay channels," in *Proc. IEEE Conf. Wireless Communications and Networking (WCNC'03)*, vol. 3, New Orleans, LA, Mar. 2003, pp. 1877–1882.
- [19] J. Wang, H.Zhai, W.Liu, and Y. Fang, "Reliable and efficient packet forwarding by utilizing path diversity in wireless ad hoc networks," in *Proc. IEEE Conf. Military Communications (MILCOM'04)*, vol. 1, Monterey, CA, Oct. 2004, pp. 258–264.
- [20] P. Larsson, "Selection diversity forwarding in a multihop packet radio network with fading channel and capture," ACM SIGMOBILE Mobile Computing and Communications Review, vol. 5, no. 4, Oct. 2001, pp. 47–54.

- [21] P. Larsson and N. Johnasson, "Multiuser diversity forwarding in multihop packet radio networks," in *Proc. IEEE Conf. Wireless Communications and Networking* (WCNC'05), vol. 4, New Orleans, LA, Mar. 2005, pp. 2188–2194.
- [22] S. Singh and C. S. Raghavendra, "PAMAS power aware multi-access protocol with signaling for ad hoc networks," ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review, vol. 28, no. 3, Jul. 1998, pp. 5–26.
- [23] S. Singh, M. Woo, and C. S. Raghavendra, "Power aware routing in mobile ad hoc networks," in *Proc. ACM/IEEE Int. Conf. Mobile Computing and Networking* (MobiCom'98), Dallas, TX, Oct. 1998, pp. 181–190.
- [24] J. Gomez, A. Campbell, M. Naghshineh, and C. Bisdikian, "PARO: supporting dynamic power controlled routing in wireless ad hoc networks," ACM/Kluwer J. Wireless Networks, vol. 9, no. 5, Sept. 2003, pp. 443–460.
- [25] M. B. Pursley, H. B. Russell, and J. S. Wysocarski, "Energy-efficient transmission and routing protocols for wireless multihop networks and spread spectrum radios," in *Proc. IEEE/AFCEA EUROCOMM2000, Information Systems* for Enhanced Public Safety and Security, May 2000, pp. 1–5.
- [26] M. Kubisch, H. Karl, A. Wolisz, L. C. Zhong, and J. Rabaey, "Distributed algorithms for transmission power control in wireless sensor networks," in *Proc. IEEE Conf. Wireless Communications and Networking (WCNC'03)*, vol. 4, New Orleans, LA, Mar. 2003, pp. 558–563.
- [27] V. Trallis, "On the energy efficiency of multihop communication in wireless sensor networks," presented at the 2nd IEEE Int. Symp. Wireless Communication Systems (ISWCS'05), Siena, Italy, Step. 2005. pp. 488–492.

- [28] M. Krunz and A. Mugattash, "Transmission power control in wireless ad hoc networks: challenges, solutions and open issues," *IEEE Network Mag.*, vol. 18, no. 5, Oct. 2004, pp. 8–14.
- [29] L. Dai and K. B. Letaief, "Cross-layer design for combining cooperative diversity with truncated ARQ in ad-hoc wireless networks," in *Proc. IEEE Globecom2005*, St. Louis, MO, Nov. 2005, pp. 3175–3179.
- [30] P. Munti, M. Tacca, and A. Fumagalli, "Optimized Transmission power levels in a cooperative ARQ protocol for microwave recharged wireless sensors," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Communications (ICC'05)*, vol. 5, Seoul, Korea, May 2005, pp. 3290–3294.
- [31] B. Zhao and M. C. Valenti, "Practical relay networks: a generalization of hybrid-ARQ," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 23, no. 1, Jan. 2005, pp. 7–18.
- [32] W. R. Heinzelman, A. Chandrakasan, and H. Balakrishnan, "Energy-efficient communication protocol for wireless microsensor networks," presented at the 33rd Annu. Hawaii Int. Conf. System Sciences, Maui, Hawaii, Jan. 2000, pp.1– 10.
- [33] H. Karl and A. Willig, Protocols and Architectures for Wireless Sensor Networks.Wiley, 2005.
- [34] J. Chang and L. Tassiulas, "Maximum lifetime routing in wireless sensor networks," *IEEE /ACM Trans. Networking*, vol. 12, no. 4, Aug. 2004, pp. 609– 619.
- [35] G. Stuber, *Principles of Mobile Communication*. 2nd ed. Klumer Academic, 2000.

[36] A. Paulraj, R. Nabar, and D. Gore, Introduction to space-time wireless communications, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2003.

VITA AUCTORIS

Wenying Zheng was born in 1972 in Hangzhou, China. She graduated from Hangzhou Institute of Electrical Engineering with B.Sc degree in 1993 and obtained M.Sc in the same university in 2001. She is currently a candidate for the Master's degree in Electrical Engineering at the University of Windsor and hopes to graduate in Fall 2006.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.